

## Addressing Household Food Insecurity in Canada

Position Statement and Recommendations from Dietitians of Canada

August 2016

Copyright © 2016 by Dietitians of Canada (DC). All rights reserved. <u>www.dietitians.ca/foodinsecurity</u>

## **Table of Contents**

| Position Statement  | 3  |    |  |   |
|---|----|----|--|---|
| Introduction  | 3  |    |  |   |
| Concerns about Poverty and Household Food Insecurity among Health Professionals in Canada 3             |    |    |  | 3 |
| Poverty and Household Food Insecurity are Costly Health Issues  |    |    |  | 4 |
| Current Responses to Household Food Insecurity  |    |    |  | 5 |
| Income-based Strategies to Address Household Food Insecurity in Canada                                  |    |    |  | 8 |
| Additional Strategies to Address the Unique Food Security Challenges of Indigenous Peoples in Canada 16 |    |    |  |   |
| Monitoring and Reporting Household Food Insecurity 20   |    |    |  |   |
| Research Gaps   | 22 |    |  |   |
| Conclusion  | 24 |    |  |   |
| Summary of Recommendations  |    | 25 |  |   |
| References  |    | 27 |  |   |
| Acknowledgements  |    | 38 |  |   |

### **Position Statement**

It is the position of Dietitians of Canada that household food insecurity is a serious public health issue with profound effects on physical and mental health and social well-being. All households in Canada must have sufficient income for secure access to nutritious food after paying for other basic necessities.

Given the alarming prevalence, severity and impact of household food insecurity in Canada, Dietitians of Canada calls for a pan-Canadian, government-led strategy to specifically reduce food insecurity at the household level, including policies that address the unique challenges of household food insecurity among Indigenous Peoples. Regular monitoring of the prevalence and severity of household food insecurity across all of Canada is required. Research must continue to address gaps in knowledge about household vulnerability to food insecurity and to evaluate the impact of policies developed to eliminate household food insecurity in Canada.

## Introduction

Household food insecurity is a serious public health issue in Canada. In 2012, 12.6% of Canadian households experienced food insecurity (1). Food insecurity, at the household level, refers to "inadequate or insecure access to food because of financial constraints" (1). In Canada, between 2008 and 2012, the total number of people living in food insecure households rose by 580,000, to approximately 2.8 million adults and 1.15 million children – about 4 million people in total (1). More recent data from some provinces and territories in Canada 2013 and 2014 suggests that the prevalence of household food insecurity<sup>1</sup> in Canada has remained similar to that in 2012, which was the last year there was a complete set of data from all provinces and territories (2, 3).

# Concerns about Poverty and Household Food Insecurity among Health Professionals in Canada

Dietitians of Canada (DC), and its predecessor, the Canadian Dietetic Association (CDA), have a long history of calling for actions to address the prevalence and impact of food insecurity in Canada. In 1991, the CDA released the profession's first position paper on hunger and food security and in 2005 its second position paper on individual and household food insecurity (4-6). In addition, DC has released or contributed to the release of several provincial reports using the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise stated, "household food insecurity" in this paper refers to the total of marginal, moderate and severe food insecurity. Measured using the tool Household Food Security Survey Module (HFSSM), Reports of household food security represent data from the entire family, since questions are asked about both the adults and children in the family. These data are not separated by adults or children however – prevalence data refers to the proportion of *households* experiencing household food insecurity.

National Nutritious Food Basket protocol to estimate the cost of basic healthy eating in relationship to incomes of vulnerable households to determine food insecurity risk (7, 8). (See <u>www.dietitians.ca/foodinsecurity</u> for examples of these reports from different regions across Canada).

Other organizations and leaders have also called for action to address food insecurity and poverty in Canada. In 2012, the UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food, Olivier De Schutter, called on Canada to live up to its international commitments to ensure the right to food which means, at a minimum, that all Canadians should have enough money to buy the food they need (9). National non-partisan, non-government Canadian groups, such as Canada Without Poverty (CWP), have studied and recommended strategies to eliminate poverty including income security, housing and homelessness, health, food security, early childhood education and care, and jobs and employment (10). Professional associations, such as the Canadian Association of Social Workers (CASW) (11) and the Canadian Medical Association (CMA) (12) continue to call for proactive measures to reduce the impacts of poverty and other social determinants of health. The CMA's report, "What makes us sick?", concluded that poverty is the main issue that must be addressed to improve the health of Canadians and eliminate health inequities. They acknowledged a role for health professionals who provide health services to direct individuals they serve to community programs and social services when such help is needed (12). One program in an urban core hospital is now prescribing income, alongside or instead of medications or lifestyle changes, helping patients with health problems due to poverty to apply for government subsidies and benefits, through the services of social workers and legal aid working with the health team (13). Berkowitz and Fabreau (14) discussed whether routine screening for food insecurity should be done in clinical settings. While they concluded that asking patients about their experiences of household food insecurity was appropriate, where it might contribute to a change in clinical management, they also acknowledged there was not any published evidence that such practice would consistently lead to improved patient health.

Dietitians working in public health in Ontario recently published their position on responses to household food insecurity, stating "food insecurity is an urgent human rights and social justice issue for local, provincial and federal public policy agendas. Food charity is an ineffective and counterproductive response to food insecurity because it does not address the root cause, which is poverty. An income response is required to effectively address food insecurity" (15). This group also published an accompanying document providing a detailed analysis of three policy areas (basic income guarantee, adequate social assistance, and reducing precarious employment) that address the root cause of food insecurity (16).

### **Poverty and Household Food Insecurity are Costly Health Issues**

The prevalence of poverty is a serious health issue and the costs affect all Canadians. The additional cost of poverty in the Canadian health care system has been estimated to be \$7.6 billion per year, using 2007 data. This estimate was produced by calculating the difference in costs if the population in the lowest income quintile in Canada used the health care system at the rate of use by the second income quintile. The population in the lowest income quintile accounted for 30.9% of total publicly funded health care, compared to 24.2% by the second lowest income quintile; notably, the richest income quintile was responsible for only 14.6% of the total health care budget, which is half of the expense incurred by the lowest income quintile. (17). In another study, using data collected through CCHS in 2005, analysts reported that the poorest fifth (quintile) of Canada's population faces a staggering 358% higher rate of disability

compared to the richest fifth – which in turn explains the higher cost of health system use by this population group. People with incomes in the lowest quintile experienced major health inequalities including 128% more mental and behavioural disorders, 63% more chronic conditions, and 33% more circulatory conditions (18). In a study comparing rates of health conditions experienced among adults according to the food security status of their households, adults in food insecure households were much more likely to have one or more chronic physical and/or mental health conditions than adults from food secure households; the likelihood of multiple conditions rose with increasing severity of food insecurity experienced (19).

Tarasuk and colleagues examined the total health care costs of working age adults in comparison to presence and severity of food insecurity. Health care costs of adults living in food insecure households were higher than for adults in food secure households, and these costs increased with the severity of food insecurity: 23%, 49% and 121% higher costs among adults from households with marginal, moderate and severe food insecurity respectively (20). In a study by Fitzpatrick and colleagues, the odds of becoming a high-cost user of the health system within the next 5 years were calculated to be 46% greater for adults 18 years and older living in households with moderate or severe food insecurity compared to those living with marginal or no food insecurity (21). It has been estimated that an annual increase of \$1,000 to the income of the poorest 20% of Canadians would lead to nearly 10,000 fewer chronic conditions and 6,600 fewer disability days every two weeks (18).

Repeated analyses have shown that the cost of eliminating poverty is about half compared to the longer-term total cost, including direct and indirect costs, of poverty (22-24). In 2007, it was estimated that it would have cost approximately \$12.3 billion to bring the incomes of all Canadians to just over the poverty line, while the total cost to society and our economy due to poverty, using cautious estimates, was approximately \$25 billion – fully twice the cost of poverty elimination in that same year (24).

Leaders in health care have an important stewardship role across all branches of society to ensure that policies and actions across all sectors improve health equity (25). Every aspect of government and the economy has the potential to affect health and health equity – finance, education, housing, employment, transport and health. The WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health emphasized that coherent action across government, at all levels, is essential for improvement of health equity.

## **Current Responses to Household Food Insecurity**

The prevalence of food insecurity at the household level is disturbingly high in some regions of Canada and among some population groups. It is widely acknowledged that income-based responses, at a systemic level, are needed to solve the problems of household food insecurity due to financial constraints. Nevertheless, societal approaches to address household food insecurity in Canada continue to focus primarily on providing food rather than addressing the financial constraints.

While food banks and other food relief programs were established to address the immediate need for food experienced by many individuals and households, these models of providing access to food were not intended to be a permanent solution; as well, there are issues of stigma, shame and lack of dignity associated with use of these services. The charity/donation model of food banks affects both the amount and nutritional quality of food available for distribution and limits the selection, amounts and frequency of food assistance for clients (26-29). It is estimated that only about

one-fifth of food insecure households go to food banks, and typically they receive no more than about 3-5 days' worth of food staples per month (26, 29-31). Loopstra and Tarasuk suggest "who goes to food banks is a reflection of food bank operations (accessibility, quality and quantity of food) and the severity of household food insecurity" (30). Food Banks Canada acknowledges that food banks are "a partial and imperfect solution to the problems caused by widespread poverty and food insecurity" (32). A Canadian assessment of assistance provided by food banks indicated that it "appears insufficient to alter households' food insecurity" (26). More recently, there have been calls for tax credits to encourage food processors to donate more to food banks; some have however expressed concern that "providing tax credits to corporations that donate edible food waste to charities will not transform food banks into a more effective system of food relief, let alone provide a solution to food insecurity" (33). In their report HungerCount 2015 (32), Food Banks Canada called for policy recommendations to address income, housing, employment and training and food insecurity in Northern communities.

Many community-based food initiatives are designed to facilitate skill development and provide nutrition education for participating individuals, offering positive social and learning environments and providing some food for participants. Examples of these programs include community gardens, community kitchens, community food centres, good food boxes, coupon/voucher programs, and food programs for children, such as school-based meals (34-41). While these programs may or may not be accessed by individuals from food insecure households, they cannot alleviate the food insecurity experienced by households on a consistent or sufficient basis. Collins and colleagues, in their discussion of local responses to household food insecurity in Canada, called for more critical, evaluative research (35). They said that municipal-level responses had limited reach to food insecure households and limited impact on participants' experience of household food insecurity, while conceding that the use of dignified and empowering approaches nevertheless could offer some benefits to participants in food-based initiatives. Concern was expressed that "widespread support for the local-level food-based approach to household food insecurity ha[d] impeded critical judgement" of program outcomes, underscoring the need for program evaluation and objective measurement of outcomes (35).

McIntyre and colleagues (42) examined transcripts from Hansard records of debate between 1995 to 2012 from three provincial legislatures and Canadian parliament, to identify how legislators (elected politicians in federal and provincial governments) defined the problem of household food insecurity<sup>2</sup> and how policy proposals were formed in response. The researchers found that most political language in past legislative debates used terms like "hunger" and "starving" instead of "food insecurity" when referring to problems of accessing food because of financial constraint within households and expressed concern that subsequent proposals for solutions did not match with what is known about the prevalence of household food insecurity or the extent of what is needed to actually reduce this prevalence. In the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> McIntyre and colleagues (42) excluded from their research any Hansard debates referring to "the aspirational construct of community food security" (e.g., "a sustainable food system that maximizes community self-reliance and social justice, through which all community residents can obtain adequate diets") when such debates occurred without an associated focus on *household-level* social and economic conditions. The researchers explained this was done because they specifically sought to explore social and economic policy that addressed financial constraints to food access.

transcripts, the main indicator of household food insecurity was frequently limited to "use of food banks", and much debate focused on food (e.g., providing support for food provision by food banks, meal supplement programs for children, encouraging healthy eating among populations who are unable to afford healthy foods, offering corporate tax incentives to support food banks) instead of economic remedies that would directly benefit food insecure households by improving their ability to buy the food they needed (42). Nevertheless, legislators did acknowledge the importance of socio-economic policy responses such as job creation or employment programs, publicly funded housing and child care, price controls on rent, and changing taxation rates to reduce the cost of living for food-insecure people, and some legislators spoke to the need to increase funding for social safety net programs, indexing minimum wage levels to inflation rates, and initiating poverty reduction strategies, as needed responses to alleviate household food insecurity (42).

Previous federal governments have acknowledged the importance of planning for poverty reduction, issuing reports such as *Federal Poverty Reduction Plan: Working in Partnership Towards Reducing Poverty in Canada* (43), and earlier calls to act on poverty reduction<sup>3</sup>. In 2015, the Prime Minister of Canada mandated the Minister of Families, Children and Social Development to lead the development of a Canadian Poverty Reduction Strategy, in collaboration with the Minister of Employment, Workforce Development and Labour, aligning with and supporting existing provincial and municipal poverty reduction strategies (49). Although this is encouraging, there is not yet an integrated, federal government-led strategy to ensure comprehensive income protection for all Canadians. Currently, almost all provinces and territories have either developed or are committed to working on poverty reduction plans for their jurisdictions (50).

An effective "poverty reduction" strategy needs to include sufficient and consistent income, consideration of expenses that cause "budget shock" and provision of affordable accommodation (1, 51-56). While household food insecurity is related to low incomes and ultimately to poverty, it is a more accurate and sensitive marker of a level of material deprivation that negatively impacts health and quality of life (57, 58). As the WHO Commission on Social Determinants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Past federal commitments for poverty reduction include: In 2007, a publication discussing the federal role for poverty reduction acknowledged the House of Commons' unanimous resolution in 1989 to eliminate poverty among Canadian children by the year 2000, although "no long-term action plan [was] developed to meet this goal and monitor progress" (44). Support for a national poverty reduction strategy founded on the principles of the United Nations *Convention on the Rights of the Child* (which Canada signed May 1990 and ratified December 1991) was also endorsed by the Standing Senate Committee on Human Rights in its April 2007 report, *Children: The Silenced Citizens* (45). The Senate Committee recommended the establishment of a federal interdepartmental implementation working group to coordinate and monitor federal legislation and policy affecting children's rights, and an independent children's commissioner to monitor government implementation of children's rights at the federal level and liaise with provincial child advocates. The federal government response to the committee's recommendations for low income families and health services focused on child tax benefits and delivery of health care services and programs (including Aboriginal Head Start in Urban and Northern Communities, the Canada Prenatal Nutrition Program, and the Community Action Program for Children, for at-risk children and families). A resolution was passed in the House of Commons with all-party support calling for a national poverty reduction strategy in 2009, followed by a House of Commons Standing Committee report in 2010 (46). A private member's bill, Bill C-545, *An Act to Eliminate Poverty in Canada*, was introduced in June 2010 (47) and a new federal all-party anti-poverty caucus was formed in May 2012 (48).

of Health has recommended, policy coherence is required, across all levels of government, to "place responsibility for action on health and health equity at the highest level of government, and ensure its coherent consideration across all ministerial and departmental policy-making" (59).

## **Income-based Strategies to Address Household Food Insecurity in Canada**

Income-based responses to household food insecurity are designed to provide a solution to address the root cause of household food insecurity, which is lack of money for basic needs within a household. Typically, these solutions require government policies that promote income security through employment policies and income transfers, pensions, tax exemptions/credits and social assistance at a systemic level (42).

The risk for experiencing household food insecurity within some households also rises when there is incomplete protection from income and budget shocks, shocks that are otherwise insured against or covered through savings in other households (60). Incomes may fluctuate due to temporary layoffs, reduced hours, and periods of time when there is no income from contract work. When there is illness, when rent prices or the cost of heating go up, or there are other sudden unexpected changes that "shock" the budget, household food insecurity may be experienced temporarily (52, 60, 61). For example, when there was a sudden increase in energy costs for heating homes in Canada between 1998 and 2001, there was a significant increase in the prevalence of household food insecurity, particularly among homeowners (52). Variation in heating cost inflation at that time explained up to three-fifths of the variation in food insecurity increases in different provinces (52, 60). An important policy challenge for any income assistance program would therefore be to build in protection for households experiencing "budget shocks" that may adversely affect a household's food security – addressing such challenges would require an ability for programs to respond quickly to prevent episodes of food insecurity within a household.

Since household food insecurity is influenced by changes in income levels and household expenses (54, 62-64), a comprehensive multi-pronged approach in Canada should include different income-based strategies, building on current and potential social protection programs including:

- a. income protection for precarious employment and low wages
- b. improved benefits for low income households
- c. increased social assistance and disability pension rates
- d. basic income guarantee an approach to investigate
- e. more investment in subsidized, affordable and stable housing options
- f. actions to address the high cost of food in Canada's northern and remote regions.

#### a. Income protection for precarious employment and low wages

Households reliant on employment income comprise the majority (62%) of food insecure households in Canada (1). These households are more likely to be younger, with children (under the age of 12 or 18 years, depending on research categories used), and led by lone mothers (1, 65). Although there is no common definition for precarious employment, it usually includes work that is contract, temporary, seasonal, casual, part-time and self-employed without employees. Typically, precarious or insecure work is also characterized by irregular work hours, lack of continuity, low wages, no paid benefits (e.g., medical, dental, vacation) and jobs that may pose greater risk for causing injury and ill health (16, 66, 67). Individuals with precarious employment who live in low-income households are twice as likely to find it difficult to make ends meet or to run out of money to buy food, compared to workers with secure employment in the same low-income category (66). Analysis of data from Canadian Metropolitan Areas (CMAs) between 2007-2012 indicated that food insecurity was significantly and positively associated with only one economic factor: the rising rates of peak unemployment. These results suggested "policy initiatives to expand employment opportunities, improve the quality and stability of employment, and increase benefits for disadvantaged workers could reduce the prevalence of household food insecurity within CMAs" (3, 58).

In a one-year follow up study of low income families in Toronto between 2005-2007, researchers reported that measured improvements in household food insecurity scores were associated with achievement of full-time employment and a gain of \$2000 in household income (68). For these households, living in market and subsidized rental housing, with a high prevalence of household food insecurity (almost 70% of households), study results highlighted the potential of a more sufficient income and the benefits of employment to impact the severity of household food insecurity. However, simply having an employed worker in the household does not necessarily ensure food security for a household (65). For the approximately one million Canadian adults who earn the minimum wage set for their region, full-time wages are not enough to raise their households above the poverty line (69). Minimum wage rates set by provinces and territories are currently lower when compared to inflation-adjusted rates in the early 1980's; past increases in minimum wages do not appear to have reduced poverty rates, likely because these increases were not sufficient (70), especially not for households without a full-time worker, without benefits and/or with a single earner who has children (71).

In Canada, households reliant on income from Employment Insurance or Workers' Compensation experienced a rate of food insecurity of 38.4% in 2012 (1) – triple the rate of household food insecurity in the general population. The federal budget in 2016 announced adjustments to Employment Insurance, for earlier and longer access in regions with higher unemployment – an example of strengthening wage protection through intervention that compensates for periods with lower or no income earnings (72).

#### **b.** Improved benefits for low income households

Many low income households do not have access to sufficient benefits or tax credits to substantially improve their chances of being food secure as a household. The prevalence of household food insecurity among households with children under 18 years of age is two to four times greater (depending on number and sex of parents) on average, compared to prevalence among seniors in Canada (1). The lower prevalence of food insecurity among seniors in Canada is widely attributed to greater government investment in seniors benefits compared to child benefits. A 2012 UNICEF report suggested that child poverty in the industrialized world could be improved with increased child benefits and tax credits (73). Improvements in the Canada Child Benefit system announced in the 2016 federal budget included an increase in benefits for low income households and families with children (e.g., Universal Child Care Benefit for children under 6 years and 6 to 17 years, Canada Child Tax Benefit, National Child Benefit Supplement) (72). Ionescu-Ittu and colleagues used CCHS data from 2001 to 2009 to estimate the causal effect of the Universal Child Care Benefit ("a 2006 Canadian federal policy of income supplementation that provides parents with \$100 monthly in Canadian dollars for each child aged <6years") on reducing household food insecurity overall and in vulnerable subgroups. They concluded that this relatively small monthly income did result in reduced households, such as those with annual income below

the median Canadian household income (a drop of 4.3%) and those with lone parents (a drop of 5.4%) (74). Earlier concerns about income from child benefits have included comment that child benefits were not always targeted to support the most vulnerable families and might be "clawed back" through other tax requirements (75).

Many households, with or without children, have no access to extended health benefits (e.g., those with precarious employment, working in a small business, self-employed). According to a 2015 report by the Advisory Panel on Healthcare Innovation, "Canadians most affected by high out-of-pocket health costs include lower-income Canadians (particularly the working poor) without access to publicly funded prescription drug plans, and those without employer-provided private health insurance (including some self-employed) and their families" (76). About 10% of the Canadian population is not taking essential medications for cost reasons; different models of pan-Canadian pharmacare, from catastrophic coverage to universal coverage, have been studied to address affordability and improve access and adherence to needed medications (74). Canada is the only industrialized country that offers universal health care but not universal prescription drug coverage (75), although limited pharmacare is provided to seniors and households receiving income from social assistance.

Among adults experiencing household food insecurity, the odds of becoming high cost users of health care services within the next 5 years were 46% greater than compared to adults living in food secure households (who generally have both a sufficient income and access to insurance for extended health benefits) [. The annual healthcare costs of adults living in severely food insecure households were 121% higher than for food secure adults, often because they could not afford to pay for therapy and/or medications required to prevent and manage health conditions (20). Adults with multiple health conditions are more likely to experience household food insecurity, and with a greater degree of severity (19). According to a recent Canadian study conducting nutrition screening upon admission to hospital, having at least three health-related diagnoses was an independent contributor to malnutrition (77). In this hospital-based study, 45% of adult patients admitted were malnourished and these patients typically stayed in hospital for longer periods of time (about two days longer). While the hospital study did not include data about the income levels or household food insecurity status of these patients, it is apparent that the presence of multiple health conditions is a critical factor contributing to malnutrition and greater costs in health care for longer hospital stays. Where possible, health professionals should screen for household food insecurity amongst their clientele, and facilitate better access to income whenever possible, perhaps through referrals to social workers, information about local services and even assistance with completion of forms - all are important and appropriate ways to provide care that contributes to better health outcomes.

#### c. Increased social assistance and disability pension rates

The prevalence of food insecurity amongst households living on social assistance is two to four times higher than for households whose main source of income is employment (wages and salaries) (19, 26, 51, 56, 78, 79). In 2012, for households whose main source of income was social assistance, the proportion of households with food insecurity was between 64.5% and 78.7% in Canada's provinces and territories, except in Newfoundland & Labrador, where it was 46.2% (1, 80).

It appears that most provincially implemented poverty reduction strategies have not had sufficient impact to reduce the prevalence of household food insecurity. In Quebec, where a poverty reduction strategy was implemented in 2002, the

prevalence of household food insecurity *increased* to its highest level in 2011, compared to the previous six-year period (81). In contrast, however, the poverty reduction actions in Newfoundland and Labrador appeared to improve incomes *and* impact rates of household food insecurity. The proportions of households in the lowest income quintile dropped from 24.6% in 2007 to 16.3% by 2012. The overall rates of household food insecurity in Newfoundland and Labrador fell from 15.7% in 2007 to 10.6% in 2011, with substantial decreases observed in the prevalence of food insecurity among households receiving social assistance (from 59.9% in 2007 to 33.5% in 2012). "Households receiving income from social assistance made up the largest proportion of food insecure households in the province in 2007 but one of the smallest proportions in 2012. The decline among these households made up the single greatest proportion of the drop in the prevalence of food insecurity for the province between 2007 and 2011, accounting for 44 percent of the observed difference in the provincial prevalence" (80). During this time period, the government of Newfoundland and Labrador improved coordination of services for low income households and initiated provincial policy changes including:

- increased income support (social assistance) payments, indexed to inflation, and increased allowances for the shelter and liquid assets
- supports for transitioning from income support to employment, including higher earning exemptions, assistance for child care and extension of prescription drug coverage
- increased rates of support for health benefits and the special diet allowance
- increased minimum wage and reduced/eliminated provincial income tax for lower income households, and
- decreased/subsidized rents and more affordable housing (30, 80, 81).

The changes implemented in Newfoundland and Labrador addressed some of the concerns about social assistance programs documented in other Canadian publications, including policies such as those that claw back earnings above a set limit, cut off welfare if students apply for loans, suspend dental or drug benefits for households receiving social assistance when minimum wage employment is found, and clawing back child support payments for single parents on social assistance (82). The reductions in measured household food insecurity following improvements to income support policies in Newfoundland and Labrador are positive examples of how policy changes can foster positive, health-promoting outcomes.

Improvements in disability benefits have also been recommended. The Mental Health Commission of Canada (83) has recommended that disability benefit programs need to be more adaptable and financial disincentives that hinder return to work or school should be removed. The economic impact of mental health conditions is enormous, estimated to cost the Canadian economy \$48.5 billion every year (83). Lack of sufficient primary health care and community mental health services, shortages of affordable housing, and inadequate income support further alienate them from life in the community. Exclusion from these social and economic supports results in social isolation, significantly increasing their risk of chronic poverty and food insecurity. Among adults with the most severe and complex mental health problems and illnesses, unemployment rates have been estimated to be between 70 to 90%; mental health problems and illnesses typically accounted for approximately 30 per cent of short- and long-term disability claims (83). The Working Income Tax Benefit (WITB), which includes access to a disability supplement (84), can also assist eligible individuals entering the labour market as well as households with low incomes from their participation in the workforce (75).

#### d. Basic income guarantee - an approach to investigate

"A guaranteed annual income (GAI) or basic income guarantee (BIG) is an income support program that provides a basic minimum income for every citizen" (16). "It is a vision for income security for everyone, made possible by governments ensuring every individual has unconditional access to at least a modest but adequate income to meet basic material needs" (85). It protects low-income households against volatility in income until stability returns. A guaranteed income provides some "budget shock insurance" that protects people from going without necessities such as food or housing (16).

Provision of a guaranteed annual income, together with other targeted government benefits and programs, would help to eliminate the negative impacts of poverty on food insecurity and health. Repeated analyses have shown that the cost of eliminating poverty is about half of the longer-term total cost of poverty to society and the economy (17, 22, 24, 86). In 2007, it was estimated that bringing the incomes of all Canadians to just above the poverty line would potentially save about \$12 billion dollars by reducing the direct and indirect costs incurred from poverty (24). A successful Canadian example of the benefits of a guaranteed annual income for all was demonstrated through analysis of results/effects following the Manitoba Basic Annual Income Experiment called "Mincome". Between 1974 and 1979 in Dauphin, Manitoba, all households with low incomes were eligible to receive benefits to provide a basic annual income (87, 88). Subsequent analysis of health and education data was published in 2011, revealing benefits particularly for women with young children (e.g., providing financial support that enabled some mothers to stay at home longer with newborns before re-entering the workforce) and teenagers (whose rates of high school completion rose substantially during this period of time). The availability of Basic Income was not a disincentive for participation in the workforce – the average number of hours in paid work among males in Dauphin did not substantially change (there was a decline by only one per cent overall, which included reflection of high school completion and delay in age of entry to the workforce). As well, retrospective examination of control-matched health data indicated significantly reduced demands for health care, with a decrease in overall hospitalization rate (specifically hospitalizations for injuries, accidents and mental health conditions) (87-91). There appears to be increased interest among some decision-makers related to potential positive outcomes associated with the provision of adequate basic income to better address the needs of all households.

Canada's guaranteed annual income program for seniors, provided through Canada's public pension system, could be considered a policy success story (86,92-94). The prevalence of household food insecurity among seniors in Canada was shown to decrease by almost half when low-income, older adults turned 65 and were eligible to receive a guaranteed annual income (86, 94). Seniors benefits contribute substantially to the income of low income individuals (living alone or "unattached"), compared to those between 55-64 years, receiving income from employment, Employment Insurance, Workers' Compensation, social assistance or other incomes. Emery et al (86) commented that the cost of a minimum guaranteed income, similar to Old Age Security, would protect all Canadians from poverty and could be partially offset by savings on administrative costs for various income-support programs and health-care utilization currently administered through all levels of government. The researchers demonstrated how rates of household food insecurity dropped among low income adults after age 65, when seniors benefits were their main source of income (86). They also maintained that receiving public pension benefits (including pharmacare) had a positive effect, improving the physical and mental health of low-income Canadians (86). Even among the group of older seniors ages 65-69 years who experienced some degree of food insecurity in spite of receiving government benefits, a lower proportion reported fair or poor physical or mental health compared to food insecure adults ages 60-64 years and not

yet eligible for all seniors' benefits (86). Nevertheless, certain benefits are not equitable for all low income seniors: seniors who have not been married do not have access to the additional funds a widowed senior receives through the survivor's pension (95) and they do not receive the maximum pensionable earnings if they did not earn enough during their years of employment to reach this level (96).

A basic income guarantee/ guaranteed annual income is an approach to public policy that should be further investigated. It is also possible that governments could achieve some savings through more efficient eligibility criteria and reduced administration.

#### e. More investment in subsidized, affordable and stable housing options

The risk and experiences of household food insecurity related to homelessness, precarious housing and renting underscore the need to include housing issues within the context of resolving household food insecurity (and household food insecurity issues within the context of resolving housing issues). The relationships between housing circumstances and household food insecurity are driven by various factors, including housing access, adequacy, affordability and tenure. Most researchers studying food insecurity agree that the high cost of accessing and maintaining housing creates a significant barrier to being able to afford to pay for other basic living expenses, including food (97-99).

Inadequate housing for some Indigenous Peoples is a problem often cited – particularly on First Nation reserves and in remote communities. For example, an analysis of data from Inuit people collected through the 2012 Aboriginal Peoples Survey (16) showed similar associations between household food insecurity, compromised housing and health. In Nunavut and Nunavik, the geographic areas with the highest prevalence rates of household food insecurity, the prevalence of inadequate housing conditions among Inuit people was also high: in Nunavut – 34% were living in homes with more than one person per room, 35% in homes needing major repairs; in Nunavik – these rates were 43% and 39%, respectively. The high prevalence of household food insecurity and compromised housing was also reflected in a lower prevalence of excellent or very good self-reported health (16).

While the causes of homelessness are multi-factorial, housing problems are at the core of the issue (97). For homeless individuals, an evidence-based approach to addressing homelessness called "Housing First" (97, 100, 101) maintains that individuals must receive housing before addressing other issues, such as addictions or mental health. This involves moving homeless individuals into independent and permanent housing and then providing other needed supports and services (97, 100, 101). Homeless individuals are unlikely to achieve food security without adequate housing and stable financial resources (98, 99, 102). According to the National At Home Final Report in 2014, many participants within the Housing First intervention found that having stable housing (and, more often, associated financial stability) was paramount to improving their eating patterns, since they could finally purchase and store food and supplies for themselves (103).

Access to affordable housing is crucial for low-income households and can prevent homelessness (100, 101, 104, 105). The supply of affordable housing could be increased through direct government investments, tax incentives for property owners, and providing housing benefits directly to vulnerable households (100, 101, 104). However, evidence suggests that the current level of subsidies is not sufficient to ensure household-level food security. The substantial disparity in federal housing subsidies given to homeowners versus renters highlights the need for policies that reach the entire housing continuum, and reflects the higher financial vulnerability of renters (106, 107). Over the past 25 years, federal

spending on affordable housing has declined drastically and currently there is minimal government involvement in the Canadian housing market (97, 100, 101, 107). The high prevalence of household food insecurity among a cross-sectional sample of low-income Toronto families living in market and subsidized rental housing indicated the current methods for determining housing affordability as well as eligibility for and availability of subsidized housing were inadequate (108). Researchers reported that the prevalence of household food insecurity did not significantly differ between market and subsidized renters overall. However, households living in market rental housing who spent more than 30% of their income on housing and households on the waiting list for subsidized housing did have greater odds of being food insecure (108). There is a need in Canada to re-evaluate the threshold of affordable housing to ensure that housing programs help households to have sufficient after-shelter income for food and other necessities (108-111). Other examples of interventions that could reduce a household's vulnerability to food insecurity through their impact on housing costs include controlling rent inflation and decreasing the risk of expenditure or budget shocks through regulations of rental and utility prices (52, 106).

In 2015, the federal government's Minister of Families, Children and Social Development was mandated to work with the Minister of Infrastructure and Communities "to develop a strategy to re-establish the federal government's role in supporting affordable housing", including supports for rent-geared-to-income subsidies, funds for Housing First initiatives and construction of more affordable rental housing (112).

#### f. Actions to address the high cost of food in Canada's northern and remote regions

While there are still many households in southern, more populous regions of Canada who do not have enough money to pay for food after paying for basic needs<sup>4</sup>, the situation is even more challenging for households in remote communities (e.g., many First Nation reserves), the northern regions of many provinces and in most of the Territories, where food prices are at least double that of prices in the south and in cities (115). Some households in the North are supported by very adequate incomes and eligible for other federal/territorial benefits (e.g., Federal Northern Residents Deduction (116), employer travel allowances, lower income tax rates, and (for federal employees) additional allowances through the Isolated Posts and Government Housing Directive (116), but many other households have much lower incomes and do not have access to additional benefits. Average and median incomes have tended to be higher in the Territories than at the national level (117). However, the gap between the incomes of Indigenous and non-Indigenous people has been reported to be pronounced in the North, with median incomes of non- Indigenous people in the Yukon and Northwest Territories about double, and in Nunavut, about four times, the median income of Indigenous Peoples (117).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The impact of rising food prices is most likely to be felt by households who have limited or no financial resources to pay for food. Recent trends indicate that food prices are rising at a rate significantly above inflation – trends that could drive some increase in the proportion of income spent on food (113). However, while food prices have increased in Canada, the *proportion* of household income spent on food has, on average, fallen. In 2009, the average Canadian household spent 10.2% of income on food, compared to 18.7% in 1969 (114), indicating that food, for many households in Canada, is very affordable – shopping for food does not require a large proportion of their income.

The high costs of transportation, warehousing, and distribution of food in northern Canada are important factors affecting food security at various levels, particularly the access to, and availability of, imported market food. Long distances, lack of roads, small populations, and very cold weather conditions all make northern Canada and remote communities difficult places in which to conduct trade (115, 118, 119). At a community level, there is greater risk for food insecurity when infrastructure for food production and processing and/or safe drinking water, as well as federal wharfs (especially when there are no year-round roads) (118).

In Canada's northern Territories, comprehensive food security strategies have been designed to address some of the unique aspects of food insecurity in the North. The Nunavut Food Security Strategy and Action Plan (120) is an example of a comprehensive policy that addresses elements of income-related household food insecurity and respect for Aboriginal Title for access to land, as well as community-level food security, because of unique challenges for food access in this Territory. One of the six key themes in the Plan is "policy and legislation" to improve the financial capacities of households in Nunavut. The Plan also proposes strategies to support all members of communities, regardless of income, to improve their access to country food *and* store-bought food, as well as other supports such as local food production, community- and school-based programs for life skills and support of food security at the community level. In the Yukon and Northwest Territories, federal funding to promote healthier weights has been used in making improvements to food access and availability (120-123).

In northern and remote regions of Canada, the federal government has initiated programs to address problems of access to food and high food prices. Effectively, these programs are a form of indirect income support at the broader community level, subsidizing the price of food for all residents. Since 2011, the retail-based subsidy program, Nutrition North Canada (NNC), has operated "to help improve access to a broad range of perishable healthy foods, including country foods, in isolated northern communities in Nunavut, the Northwest Territories, Yukon, Labrador, Quebec, Ontario, Manitoba and Saskatchewan" (124). The UN Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food described and called for improvements in NNC in 2012 (9) and a performance audit of NNC by the Auditor General of Canada in 2014 noted several serious problems with the program, including "inconsistent eligibility of communities and degree of subsidy as well as insufficient information to verify that the full subsidy was being passed on to consumers" (125). In April 2016, the Auditor General indicated to the Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs there had not been subsequent auditing of NNC through his office (126).

The lack of availability of NNC subsidy in many communities has raised concerns that the NNC program is not meeting its goals to improve access to and affordability of healthy food in the North (115, 127, 128). Furthermore, and perhaps even more importantly, the NNC subsidy provides no additional benefit to vulnerable households experiencing food insecurity within the eligible communities – the subsidy dollars are applied to food prices in retail stores, not directly available as income subsidy for low income households or households within the community who are experiencing food insecurity. The 2016 Federal budget included more funding for the NNC program (\$64.5 million over five years, starting in 2016–2017, and \$13.8 million per year ongoing to expand the program to all northern isolated communities), as well as some other actions designed to further benefit households in Canada's North, such as an increase to the Northern Residents Tax Deduction, extended El benefits, and more money for affordable housing (72).

**RECOMMENDATION #1:** Development and implementation of a pan-Canadian government-led strategy that includes coordinated policies and programs, to ensure all households have consistent and sufficient income to be able to pay for basic needs, including food. The strategy should consider:

- sufficient income protection for low income households relying on precarious employment and low wages
- improved benefits for households with children under 18 years, especially households led by a lone parent
- improved benefits for low income, unattached individuals
- increased social assistance and disability pension rates to ensure individuals and their households have enough income to pay for basic needs, including food
- investigation of the feasibility of a guaranteed annual income that ensures all vulnerable households can have access to sufficient income assistance to meet basic needs
- more investment in subsidized, affordable and stable housing options, including the provision of housing for individuals/households who are homeless
- financial assistance that equitably addresses the higher cost of food in remote and northern regions of Canada, whether through Nutrition North Canada or other programs.

# Additional strategies to address the unique food security challenges of Indigenous Peoples in Canada<sup>5</sup>

Depending on geographic region and living circumstances, Indigenous households experience about two to six times greater total prevalence and severity of household food insecurity, compared to other households in Canada. Most Indigenous households (almost two-thirds) live off reserve, many in urban communities. On average, the prevalence of household food insecurity among these households, in 2012, was 28.2% (8.3% with severe food insecurity), compared to 12.6% (2.6% with severe food insecurity) in Canada overall, as measured in the regular cycles of the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) (1). Data on the prevalence of household food insecurity in First Nations households living on reserves is now available through the First Nations Food, Nutrition and Environment Study (FNFNES): 41% food

<sup>5</sup> This discussion focuses on unique challenges and factors contributing to food insecurity experienced by many Indigenous People living in Canada. Dietitians of Canada recognizes the diversity and complexity of differing life situations among Indigenous Peoples in Canada (129, 130). As well, we recognize the factors discussed below do not apply equally to circumstances in all households of Aboriginal identity. insecurity (moderate+severe<sup>6</sup>) among First Nations households on reserve in British Columbia (data collected in 2008-2009) (131), 38% in Manitoba (in 2010) (132), 29% in Ontario (in 2011-2012) (133), and 47% in Alberta (2013) (133a). Using CCHS data from 2007–2010, food insecurity (moderate + severe food insecurity) among individuals who identified as Métis, aged 12 years and older, was reported to be approximately double that of the non-Aboriginal population – 15% versus 7% (134). Household food insecurity among Canada's Inuit population was assessed in the 2012 Aboriginal Peoples Survey (135), with the highest rates of food insecurity (based on the shorter six-item version of the HFSSM and answering the question "were you (personally) ever hungry but didn't eat because you couldn't afford food?") reported in Nunavut (56%) and Nunavik (55%) (135). The 2007/2008 Inuit Health Survey also indicated the highest rate of household food insecurity among Inuit was in Nunavut – 69% (35% moderate, 34% severe food insecurity).

Key factors impacting household food security amongst Indigenous Peoples in Canada<sup>7</sup>, contributing to alarmingly high rates, include:

- poverty/low income and unemployment
- lack of access to the land (including, but not limited to, Treaty or titled land) and financial costs for acquiring traditional/country foods; environmental changes affecting traditional/country food harvesting and consumption
- geographic isolation and the unreliable supply, quality, and high prices of market food in remote and isolated communities (115, 120).

Household food insecurity is a serious public health issue, contributing to increased risk for poor physical and mental health. The Truth and Reconciliation Commission called upon governments at all levels to acknowledge "that the current state of Aboriginal health in Canada is a direct result of previous Canadian government policies, including residential schools, and to recognize and implement the health-care rights of Aboriginal people" (137). The Commission concurred with the view of S. James Anaya, UN Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, who called on Canadian governments to fully adopt and implement the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (138) as the framework to achieve goals of the Declaration, which included the Right to Food. In 2016, the Standing Senate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Typically, reports of food insecurity amongst Indigenous Peoples, including FNFNES, Aboriginal Peoples Survey and Inuit Health Survey, follow the Statistics Canada reporting framework – wherein "food secure" = food secure + marginally food insecure; "food insecure" = only moderately + severely food insecure. At present, only the PROOF reports on Household Food Insecurity in Canada, analyzing national CCHS data, report marginal food insecurity as part of total food insecurity among households. (PROOF is an interdisciplinary, internationally-based group of researchers, who conduct research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity, currently funded by Canadian Health Institutes of Research. See website <a href="http://nutritionalsciences.lamp.utoronto.ca/">http://nutritionalsciences.lamp.utoronto.ca/</a>.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The complexity of these factors and interactions among them and their impacts on food insecurity and health are represented in a conceptual model developed in 2008, by the Food Security Reference Group, in which the Assembly of First Nations (AFN) and Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami (ITK) were equal members and full participants along with the First Nations and Inuit Health Branch of Health Canada (136); as well, the CCA Panel developed a conceptual framework "as a tool for analyzing and understanding food security and food sovereignty in northern Canada" (115).

Committee on Aboriginal Peoples announced commencement of two studies: one on best practices and on-going challenges relating to housing in First Nation and Inuit communities in Nunavut, Nunavik, Nunatsiavut and the Northwest Territories, and the other on the federal government's constitutional, treaty, political and legal responsibilities to First Nations, Inuit and Metis peoples (139).

#### a. Policies to improve economic and social conditions for Aboriginal people

As described above, on average, Indigenous households experience a greater prevalence of food insecurity (depending on geographic region and living circumstances), and more severe food insecurity than compared to non-Aboriginal households. In their report on *Aboriginal food security in northern Canada*, the expert panel acknowledged "[o]ne of the outcomes of colonialism is material poverty in many Aboriginal communities across Canada, which negatively and seriously affects peoples' ability to obtain adequate nutrition. Addressing poverty and unemployment in northern Aboriginal communities so that individuals and communities can achieve sustainable livelihoods is a key step in mitigating food insecurity" (115). As pointed out in the Alberta First Nations Food Security Strategy, "income is only one part of the puzzle. Education and economic development policies also impact food security, affecting high school completion rates, access to job markets and access to job training" (140). Other variables associated with low income and household food insecurity include living in crowded household or in public housing or having a home in need of major repairs (141). Power (120) pointed out that the authority to ameliorate poverty among First Nations and Inuit people was the primary responsibility of the federal government. In 2011, the Auditor General of Canada identified structural impediments that explained the lack of progress on living conditions in First Nation reserves, including problems related to closing the education gap, action on drinking water quality, housing initiatives, child and family services and land claim agreements (142).

Income support programs contribute to financial resources that can in turn reduce individual and household-level food insecurity. The expert panel studying *Aboriginal food security in northern Canada* acknowledged examples such as Employment Insurance, Old Age Security and the Guaranteed Income Supplement, the Canada child tax benefit, northern tax benefits, the Income Support Program (for Indigenous People living on-reserve), and money to support housing programs (115), programs similar to the primary ways through which the federal government delivers financial assistance to all households in Canada. In the general population, the proportion of the population relying on income assistance is about 5%; in contrast, the rate of reliance was 34% among First Nations people living on reserve in Canada in 2010–2011 (143).

#### b. Policies to support food security and food sovereignty, including access to traditional/country food

For Aboriginal peoples, any discussion of food insecurity, whether at the household or community levels, must also address the unique challenges of accessing food through two parallel food 'systems': traditional/country foods8 and the market (store-bought) food system. Traditional/country foods are vitally important to diets for many Indigenous households, providing high quality, nutrient-dense foods, as well as being an integral part of Indigenous culture. Culturally acceptable, traditional/country foods may provide about one-quarter to over half of energy intakes in some Indigenous households (120, 141, 144). Reports from the FNFNES indicated most First Nations adults living on reserve wanted more traditional food in their diets than they were able to access (131-133). While lack of financial resources reduces access to or the ability to purchase market foods for all Canadians, limited income also affects the ability of Indigenous People to access traditional/country foods, due to the expense of purchasing and maintaining equipment and supplies (115,120,145). The expert panel on Aboriginal food security in northern Canada acknowledged that the high cost of gas and hunting and fishing supplies (which necessitates wage-earning employment) is a barrier to food security and food sovereignty (115). In the Inuit Health Survey, country food consumption and a lower risk of food insecurity was directly influenced by whether there was a hunter in the household as well as having the time and resources to afford to hunt and harvest traditional foods (141). First Nations adults have identified multiple barriers that influence and restrict the amount of traditional food available to households such as time, transportation and financial constraints, absence of a hunter, government regulations and restrictions, commercial harvesting, development/industrial activities and local contaminant concerns (131-133).

The high price of market/store-bought foods in Canada's north is particularly challenging for households with limited financial resources, as is the case for many Indigenous households in the Territories and northern/remote areas of the provinces. A report by Burnett et al describes household food insecurity in some remote communities in the northern region of provinces to be "equally alarming" compared to arctic regions. For example, in northern Ontario, only eight of 32 fly-in communities had been deemed eligible for the full NNC subsidy (128). The expert panel on *Aboriginal food security in northern Canada* (115) acknowledged gaps in the NNC program, including a map of "Nutrition North-Funded Communities (2011–2012)" which shows locations of remote/northern communities and the degree of funding they receive from NNC. The panel also emphasized the need to recognize rights contained in land claims agreements (e.g., harvesting rights) that should be considered in the development of any new subsidy program (115). To address the unique challenges of food insecurity amongst Aboriginal peoples, sustainable policies and actions are needed, developed and initiated cooperatively between government and Indigenous Peoples, respecting traditional knowledge and culture.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Traditional food is the preferred term for First Nations and Métis, and country food is the preferred term for Inuit. Use of the term "traditional/country food" is considered to be inclusive of all Aboriginal cultures in Canada (115).

## **RECOMMENDATION #2:** Implementation of a federally-supported strategy to comprehensively address the additional and unique challenges related to household food insecurity among Indigenous Peoples, including:

- commitment to reconciliation (as recommended by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission and the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples), including assurance of household food security and food sovereignty
- fair resolution of disputes over access to lands and resources recognized by Indigenous and Treaty rights, to ensure food sovereignty and access to traditional/country foods by Indigenous Peoples
- sufficient supports to remove barriers for Indigenous Peoples who are hunting, fishing or gathering/cultivating traditional/country foods
- improved access to and ability to afford healthy store-bought or market foods in all First Nation reserves and northern and remote communities where food prices are substantially higher than elsewhere in Canada, with equitable community eligibility for Nutrition North Canada subsidies and/or other programs to address household food insecurity among Indigenous Peoples
- sufficient supports to improve opportunities in education and employment, for equitable income adequacy and security among Indigenous Peoples compared to other groups within Canada.

## Monitoring and reporting household food insecurity

Measures of household food insecurity, including the severity of food insecurity, may provide a more sensitive predictor and current indicator of negative outcomes related to health and wellbeing compared to poverty measures. Poverty is usually defined by total annual income whereas food insecurity is measured as a recall of experience at any time in the past twelve months (1, 68, 86102102, 146). The degree of household food insecurity has been used as a "consumptionbased indicator of both poverty and lack of insurance against income shocks" (86102102). Household food insecurity is a unique indicator of household stress, based on reports of any episodes of insecurity experience in the past year – it captures a dimension of material deprivation not captured by low income, generally a reflection of the average financial stress over a year (57).

It is crucial to monitor the prevalence of household food insecurity in all parts of Canada on a regular basis including impacts on health and health system costs. Lack of detailed information on the economic circumstances of households and inconsistent or voluntary measuring of household food insecurity, especially within the CCHS, prevents clear analysis and understanding of household-level food insecurity in Canada. To better inform the development and evaluation of policies to address food insecurity among Canadian households, more effective monitoring is needed - consistently administering a validated measure of food security to measure the impacts of poverty reduction strategies on households. Provincial and municipal level data, including remote and Northern communities, should be collected, since situations vary and policies need to be tailored to address inadequate income. Ideally, the data should include sampling of a longitudinal nature, to more accurately understand impacts of policy change on household food insecurity over a longer period of time.

The expert panel report on *Aboriginal food insecurity in northern Canada* acknowledged the need to "adapt data collection tools and standards to the varied realities of Aboriginal peoples in [northern] Canada" and emphasized that a "consistent and relevant understanding of the situation across different communities of Aboriginal peoples…is important in the delivery of evidence-based public policy" (115). Some elements of the food system may also contribute to food insecurity experienced by households and individuals and may be more difficult to quantify. Qualitative methodologies have been developed including an interview methodology for community-based research on Indigenous food sovereignty (147).

The recent series of annual reports on Household Food Insecurity in Canada (1-3) have been extremely valuable for their regular, comprehensive reporting of the prevalence and severity of food insecurity at the national, provincial/territorial and even census metropolitan areas. Government funding and resources must be committed to support this degree of reporting, since the PROOF project was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research for only five years. Indeed, other countries have already mandated such reporting – in the United States, for example, detailed household food insecurity reports are published annually (148). The separate identification of marginal food insecurity, employed consistently throughout Canada, including by Statistics Canada, would allow for better and more accurate comparison of household food insecurity rates within and among population groups.

Monitoring and reporting national prevalence and severity of household food insecurity is essential to:

- understand the prevalence and distribution of household food insecurity
- make policy recommendations for interventions that aim to prevent or reduce household food insecurity
- guide effective public health policy and community initiatives
- assess the impact of policies and programs designed to prevent or reduce household food insecurity (9, 149, 150).

Finally, since health professionals recognize the links among social determinants of health, they understand that individual clients living with poverty and/or physical and mental health conditions are at greater risk of household food insecurity. In addition to advocacy for public policies to address household food insecurity, individual practitioners and their workplaces (e.g., hospitals, primary care clinics, homecare programs) must continue to consider practical ways in which they can help individuals and households, beginning with screening for the presence of food insecurity, financial instability and possible malnutrition, and providing direction/assistance for clients to access services they need and for which they qualify (10-13,16). Institutions can add protocols for screening, checking for factors related to food insecurity and malnutrition. Health professionals need to help clients become aware of the services and programs available and assist them in navigating the system to receive any additional income to which they may be entitled. As discussed earlier, households experiencing food insecurity often experience many barriers and social determinants contributing to a demise in health. For these individuals and households, the facilitation of access to income, perhaps through referrals to social workers, information about local services and even assistance with completion of forms, are very important and appropriate ways to provide care that contributes to better health outcomes.

**RECOMMENDATION #3:** Commitment to mandatory, annual monitoring and reporting of the prevalence and severity of household food insecurity in each province and territory across Canada, including among vulnerable populations. Measurement of household food insecurity must be included in impact/outcome evaluation of strategies to reduce poverty and household food insecurity. Features of data collection and reporting should include:

- mandatory annual data collection using a standardized tool such as the HFSSM, with sufficient sampling to measure the prevalence and severity of household food insecurity in vulnerable populations across all regions of Canada; some longitudinal studies would provide valuable information, in addition to cross-sectional surveillance
- regular analysis and public reporting of household food insecurity in Canada, with comprehensive detail by geographic regions and vulnerable populations, using a framework for household food insecurity categories that includes marginal food insecurity as part of the total of food insecurity and identifies severity of household food insecurity at the levels of marginal, moderate and severe food insecurity. Data analysis and reporting should be coordinated to maximize capacity to compare data from all studies.
- regular evaluation of the impact of poverty reduction and other strategies to reduce household food insecurity (measured by the HFSSM) and improve selected population health indicators, with adjustments in policy to maximize reach and impact. For example, the effectiveness of government subsidy of food prices in Nutrition North Canada communities should be monitored and adjusted to ensure reduction of the alarmingly high rates of household food insecurity in these regions.
- protocols for screening within in the health care system to identify household food insecurity and poverty (as well as malnutrition) among individual health system users

### **Research Gaps**

Although Canadian researchers are studying household food insecurity - its prevalence, distribution, severity, impacts and related issues - to provide evidence to inform policy decisions, there are still major gaps in knowledge. Some specific examples of data gaps, include the need for information about:

- trends in the prevalence of household food insecurity, especially in some regions and among some populations for which data is not collected or readily available.
- food access conditions in the Canadian North and among Indigenous populations living off reserve, on reserve and in remote communities
- the experience of food insecurity among some groups or populations not well studied, such as people who are unattached (single), living alone; new immigrants and refugee households, and other populations for whom information about the risk of experiencing household food insecurity is not available or conclusive

- factors contributing to vulnerability for example, why do racialized populations experience more frequent and more severe food insecurity? are there other factors besides income or material deprivation that contribute to greater risk for food insecurity? how could such factors be addressed systemically through policy changes?
- impacts of local-level, food-based community programs on the experiences of income-related household food insecurity and on food security at a community level
- economic impacts/outcomes related to household food insecurity, including the additional costs to the health care system and other systems such as income support programs, child and family services, criminal justice, workforce participation
- costing the feasibility of implementing a guaranteed annual income or basic income guarantee, and potential savings in administration of a central program for income support; monitoring usage and trends – perhaps beginning with pilot projects
- better understanding of how individuals and households with precarious incomes and episodic experiences of food insecurity prioritize spending when more money is available
- better understanding of the health effects contributing to and/or resulting from household food insecurity, using a health equity lens, considering social determinants of health, when assessing the need for, and response to, interventions and supports offered to individuals with physical and/or mental health conditions who experience household food insecurity

**RECOMMENDATION #4:** Support for continued research to address gaps in knowledge about populations experiencing greater prevalence and severity of household food insecurity and to inform the implementation and evaluation of strategies and policies that will eliminate household food insecurity in Canada. Research is needed on topics such as:

- factors contributing to increased vulnerability amongst populations experiencing disproportionately more food insecurity within their households
- the costs and benefits of different policy responses such as basic income guarantee and other incomebased strategies, including social, political and healthcare costs.
- outcome evaluation following implementation of public policy and poverty reduction strategies in Canada, especially the measured impacts on household food insecurity and health of individuals within the population

## Conclusion

Individual and household food insecurity due to financial constraints is a significant public health problem with profound negative effects on nutrition, health and overall well-being. While the presence of food insecurity within a household increases the risk that household members will experience declines in physical and/or mental health and more chronic diseases, the presence of chronic disease and/or multiple health conditions within a household also increases the risk of household food insecurity – a bidirectional relationship. Specific groups at higher risk for household food insecurity, most often due to low incomes, include lone parent families, unattached (single) people, individuals with more than one chronic disease, households who identify as Indigenous or part of other racialized populations, people who are homeless, households for whom adequate accommodation is unaffordable, and households relying on government support for income (e.g., social assistance, disability pension and employment insurance).

Low household income is the strongest predictor of household food insecurity, highlighting the need for enough income to maintain adequate and secure access to food. There is evidence that increased income, access to stable employment and an adequate basic income guarantee can reduce rates of food insecurity. Canadian households require consistent, sufficient income to purchase nutritious food after paying for rent and other basic necessities. Canada has signed international agreements recognizing the right to food as a legal entitlement for all Canadians.

Development and implementation of a comprehensive pan-Canadian strategy that includes a social policy approach to address and eliminate household food insecurity, with clear targets and accountability mechanisms, is needed. Strategy and policy measures focusing on long term solutions must be multipronged, considering the issue within the context of addressing poverty, healthy equity, social outcomes (i.e., affordable housing, education), precarious employment and ensuring adequate household income (for basic living costs and protection against budget-shocks). Any intervention that attempts to address a single issue, without taking into account the complexity of the broader context, is unlikely to be successful in the long term.

To help inform and provide evidence for these policy interventions it continues to be vital that Canadian researchers monitor, analyze and report on the impacts of policies and economic changes on the prevalence and severity of household food insecurity and changes in health outcomes and health care system use. Elimination of household food insecurity in Canada would provide multiple health, economic, social and political benefits.

## **Summary of Recommendations**

Dietitians of Canada recommends:

1. Development and implementation of a pan-Canadian government-led strategy that includes coordinated policies and programs, to ensure all households have consistent and sufficient income to be able to pay for basic needs, including food. The strategy should consider:

- sufficient income protection for low income households relying on precarious employment and low wages
- improved benefits for households with children under 18 years, especially households led by a lone parent
- improved benefits for low income, unattached individuals
- increased social assistance and disability pension rates to ensure individuals and their households have enough income to pay for basic needs, including food
- investigation of the feasibility of a guaranteed annual income that ensures all vulnerable households can have access to sufficient income assistance to meet basic needs
- more investment in subsidized, affordable and stable housing options, including the provision of housing for individuals/households who are homeless
- financial assistance that equitably addresses the higher cost of food in remote and northern regions of Canada, whether through Nutrition North Canada or other programs.

## 2. Implementation of a federally-supported strategy to comprehensively address the additional and unique challenges related to household food insecurity among Indigenous Peoples, including:

- commitment to reconciliation (as recommended by the Truth and Reconciliation Commission and the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples), including assurance of household food security and food sovereignty
- fair resolution of disputes over access to lands and resources recognized by Indigenous and Treaty rights, to ensure food sovereignty and access to traditional/country foods by Indigenous Peoples
- sufficient supports to remove barriers for Indigenous Peoples who are hunting, fishing or gathering/cultivating traditional/country foods
- improved access to and ability to afford healthy store-bought or market foods in all First Nation reserves and northern and remote communities where food prices are substantially higher than elsewhere in Canada, with equitable community eligibility for Nutrition North Canada subsidies and/or other programs to address household food insecurity among Indigenous Peoples
- sufficient supports to improve opportunities in education and employment, for equitable income adequacy and security among Indigenous Peoples compared to other groups within Canada

3. Commitment to mandatory, annual monitoring and reporting of the prevalence and severity of household food insecurity in each province and territory across Canada, including among vulnerable populations. Measurement of household food insecurity must be included in impact/outcome evaluation of strategies to reduce poverty and household food insecurity. Features of data collection and reporting should include:

- mandatory annual data collection using a standardized tool such as the HFSSM, with sufficient sampling to measure the prevalence and severity of household food insecurity in vulnerable populations across all regions of Canada; some longitudinal studies would provide valuable information, in addition to cross-sectional surveillance
- regular analysis and public reporting of household food insecurity in Canada, with comprehensive detail by geographic regions and vulnerable populations, using a framework for household food insecurity categories that includes marginal food insecurity as part of the total of food insecurity and identifies severity of household food insecurity at the levels of marginal, moderate and severe food insecurity. Data analysis and reporting should be coordinated to maximize capacity to compare data from all studies.
- regular evaluation of the impact of poverty reduction and other strategies to reduce household food insecurity (measured by the HFSSM) and improve selected population health indicators, with adjustments in policy to maximize reach and impact. For example, the effectiveness of government subsidy of food prices in Nutrition North Canada communities should be monitored and adjusted to ensure reduction of the alarmingly high rates of household food insecurity in these regions.
- protocols for screening within in the health care system to identify household food insecurity and poverty (as well as malnutrition) among individual health system users

4. Support for continued research to address gaps in knowledge about populations experiencing greater prevalence and severity of household food insecurity and to inform the implementation and evaluation of strategies and policies that will eliminate household food insecurity in Canada. Research is needed on topics such as:

- factors contributing to increased vulnerability amongst populations experiencing disproportionately more food insecurity within their households
- the costs and benefits of different policy responses such as basic income guarantee and other incomebased strategies, including social, political and healthcare costs
- outcome evaluation following implementation of public policy and poverty reduction strategies in Canada, especially the measured impacts on household food insecurity and health of individuals within the population.

## References

1. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, Dachner N. Household food insecurity in Canada 2012. Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity (PROOF). 2014. Available from: <u>http://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/Household Food Insecurity in Canada-2012 ENG.pdf</u>

2. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, Dachner N. Household food insecurity in Canada, 2013. Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity (PROOF). 2015. Available from: <u>http://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/foodinsecurity2013.pdf</u>

3. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, Dachner N. Household Food Insecurity in Canada, 2014. Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity (PROOF). 2016. Available from: <u>http://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Household-Food-Insecurity-in-Canada-2014.pdf</u>

4. Canadian Dietetic Association. The official position paper of the Canadian Dietetic Association on hunger and food security in Canada. J Can Diet Assoc. 1991;53.

5. Power E. Individual and household food insecurity in Canada: Position of Dietitians of Canada. Executive Summary. Can J Diet Pract Res. 2005;66:43-6.

6. Power E. Background paper. Individual and household food insecurity in Canada: position of Dietitians of Canada. 2005; Toronto. [Archived].

7. Health Canada. Food and Nutrition Surveillance: National Nutritious Food Basket. 2009. Available from: <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/surveill/basket-panier/index-eng.php</u>

8. Nutrition North Canada. Fact Sheet: Revised Northern Food Basket. Available from: <u>http://www.nutritionnorthcanada.gc.ca/eng/1415548276694/1415548329309#tpc3</u>

9. De Schutter O. Report submitted by the Special Rapporteur on the right to food, Olivier De Schutter. Promotion and protection of all human rights, civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights, including the right to development. 2012:1-22. Available from: <u>http://www.srfood.org/en/right-to-food</u>.

10. Dignity for All. Dignity for all: the campaign for a poverty-free Canada. Available at: <u>http://dignityforall.ca/</u>

11. Canadian Association of Social Workers. Canada Social Transfer and the Social Determinants of Health Final Report. 2013. Available from: http://www.casw-acts.ca/en/canada-social-transfer-and-social-determinants-health-1

12. Canadian Medical Association, editor. Health care in Canada: what makes us sick. Ottawa, 2013. Available from: <u>https://www.cma.ca/assets/assets-library/document/fr/advocacy/what-makes-us-sick\_en.pdf</u>

13. Porter C. St. Michael's Hospital health team offers prescription for poverty. The Toronto Star. Toronto. Available from: <u>https://www.thestar.com/news/insight/2015/05/23/st-michaels-hospital-health-team-offers-prescription-for-poverty.html</u>

14. Berkowitz SA, Fabreau GE. Food insecurity: What is the clinician's role? CMAJ. 2015 Oct 6;187(14):1031-2. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.150644. Epub 2015 Aug 17. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26283725</u>

15. Ontario Society of Nutrition Professionals in Public Health Food Security Workgroup. Position Statement on Responses to Food Insecurity. 2015. Available from: <u>http://www.osnpph.on.ca/upload/membership/document/2016-02/position-statement-2015-final.pdf</u>

16. Ontario Society of Nutrition Professionals in Public Health Food Security Workgroup. Income-related policy recommendations to address food insecurity. 2015. Available from: <u>http://www.osnpph.on.ca/membership/documents</u>

17. Ontario Association of Food Banks. The Cost of Poverty – An Analysis of the Economic Cost of Poverty in Ontario. November 2008. Available from:

http://www.oafb.ca/tiny\_mce/plugins/filemanager/pics\_cms/61/261/CostofPoverty.pdf

18. Lightman E, Mitchell A, Wilson B. Poverty is making us sick: A comprehensive survey of income and health in Canada. 2008. Available from: <u>http://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2011/11/povertyismakingussick.pdf

19. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, McLaren L, McIntyre L. Chronic physical and mental health conditions among adults may increase vulnerability to household food insecurity. J Nutr. 2013 Nov;143(11):1785-93. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.178483. Epub 2013 Aug 28. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23986364</u>

20. Tarasuk V, Cheng J, de Oliveira C, Dachner N, Gundersen C, Kurdyak P. Association between household food insecurity and annual health care costs. CMAJ. 2015 Oct 6;187(14):E429-36. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.150234. Epub 2015 Aug 10. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26261199</u>

21. Fitzpatrick T, Rosella LC, Calzavara A, Petch J, Pinto AD, Manson H, et al. Looking beyond income and education: Socioeconomic status gradients among future high-cost users of health care. Am J Prev Med. 2015 Aug;49(2):161-71. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2015.02.018. Epub 2015 May 8. Abstract available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25960393

22. The Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology. In from the margins: a call to action on poverty, housing and homelessness. Report of the Subcommittee on Cities. The Senate of Canada, Ottawa: 2009. Available from: <a href="http://wcacanada.ca/data/research\_docs/0000054.pdf">http://wcacanada.ca/data/research\_docs/0000054.pdf</a>

23. National Campaign 2000 Report Card. Needed: A federal action plan to eradicate child and family poverty in Canada. Toronto: 2012. Available from: <u>http://www.childcarecanada.org/documents/research-policy-</u>

practice/12/11/needed-federal-action-plan-eradicate-child-and-family-pover

24. National Council of Welfare. The Dollars and Sense of Solving Poverty. 2011; Vol 130. Ottawa, ON. Available from: <u>http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2011/cnb-ncw/HS54-2-2011-eng.pdf</u>

25. Marmot M, Friel S, Bell R, Houweling TAJ, Taylor S. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Lancet. 2008;372:1661-9. Abstract available from:

http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(08)61690-6/abstract

26. Tarasuk V, Dachner N, Loopstra R. Food banks, welfare, and food insecurity in Canada. Brit Food J.

2014;116:1405-17. Available from: http://www.rdc-cdr.ca/food-banks-welfare-and-food-insecurity-canada

27. Tarasuk V, Eakin JM. Charitable food assistance as symbolic gesture: An ethnographic study of food banks in Ontario. Soc Sci Med. 2003 Apr;56(7):1505-15. Abstract available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12614701

28. Tarasuk V, Eakin J. Food assistance through 'surplus' food: insights from an ethnographic study of food bank work. Agr Hum Values. 2005;22(2):177-86. Abstract available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/227266724 Food Assistance through Surplus Food Insights from an Et hnographic Study of Food Bank Work

29. Tarasuk V, Dachner N, Hamelin AM, Ostry A, Williams P, Bosckei E, Poland B, Raine K. A survey of food bank operations in five Canadian cities. BMC Public Health. 2014 Nov 28;14:1234. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-1234. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25432209</u>

30. Loopstra R, Tarasuk V. Food Bank Usage Is a Poor Indicator of Food Insecurity: Insights from Canada. Soc Policy Soc. 2015;14(3):443-55. Abstract available from:

http://journals.cambridge.org/action/displayAbstract?fromPage=online&aid=9748643

31. Food Insecurity Policy Research. Food bank stats don't tell the story of food insecurity. 2016. Available from: <a href="http://proof.utoronto.ca/food-bank-stats-dont-tell-the-story-of-food-insecurity/">http://proof.utoronto.ca/food-bank-stats-dont-tell-the-story-of-food-insecurity/</a>

32. Food Banks Canada. HungerCount 2015. 2015;1-30. Available from: https://www.foodbankscanada.ca/getmedia/01e662ba-f1d7-419d-b40c-

bcc71a9f943c/HungerCount2015\_singles.pdf.aspx

33. Tarasuk V. Donating 'edible waste' to food banks in exchange for tax credit? Now that's a rubbish idea. Globe and Mail. November 2, 2015. Available from: <u>http://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/donating-edible-waste-to-food-banks-in-exchange-for-tax-credit-now-thats-a-rubbish-idea/article27064689/</u>

34. Loopstra R, Tarasuk V. The Relationship Between Food Banks and Household Food Insecurity Among Low-Income Toronto Families. Can Public Pol. 2012;38(4):497-514. Abstract available from:

https://muse.jhu.edu/article/496050/pdf

35. Collins PA, Power EM, Little MH. Municipal-level responses to household food insecurity in Canada: a call for critical, evaluative research. Can J Public Health. 2014 Apr 9;105(2):e138-41. Abstract available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24886850

36. Roustit C, Hamelin AM, Grillo F, Martin-Fernandez J, Chauvin P. Food Insecurity: Could School Food Supplementation Help Break Cycles of Intergenerational Transmission of Social Inequalities? Pediatrics. 2010;126(6):1174-81. Abstract available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/49629313 Food Insecurity Could School Food Supplementation Help Br eak Cycles of Intergenerational Transmission of Social Inequalities

37. Vozoris N, Tarasuk V. Prenatal and child nutrition program in relation to food insecurity. CRSP. 2003:67-86. Available from: <u>http://www.yorku.ca/crsp/issue51/issue51-5.pdf</u>

38. Williams PL. The 'wonderfulness' of children's feeding programs. Health Promot Int. 2003 Jun;18(2):163-70. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12746388</u>

39. Hodgins KJ. Cultivating Community at the Farmers' Market. Submitted to BC Farmers' Market Association; 2014. Available from: <u>https://bcafm.files.wordpress.com/2014/02/cultivating-community-at-the-farmers-</u>

market\_kjh2014.pdf. See also: http://www.bcfarmersmarket.org/coupon-program/reports-and-evaluation

40. Buck-McFadyen EV. Rural food insecurity: When cooking skills, homegrown food, and perseverance aren't enough to feed a family. Can J Public Health. 2015;106(3):e140-6. Abstract available from: <a href="http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/4837">http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/4837</a>

41. Loopstra RT, V. Perspectives on community gardens, community kitchens and the Good Food Box Program in a community-based sample of low-income families. Can J Public Health. 2013;104(1):e55-e9. Abstract available from: <a href="http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/3528">http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/3528</a>

42. McIntyre L, Patterson PB, Anderson LC, Mah CL. Household Food Insecurity in Canada: Problem Definition and Potential Solutions in the Public Policy Domain. Can Public Pol. 2016 (March):83-93. doi:10.3138/cpp.2015-066. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.utpjournals.press/doi/abs/10.3138/cpp.2015-066</u>

43. Report of the Standing Committee on Human Resources, Skills and Social Development and the Status of Persons with Disabilities. Federal Poverty Reduction Plan: Working in Partnership towards Reducing Poverty in Canada. Ottawa: 2010. Available from: <u>http://ywcacanada.ca/data/research\_docs/00000177.pdf</u>

44. Collin C, Political and Social Affairs Division. Poverty Reduction in Canada - The Federal Role - PRB 07-22E. 2007. Available from: <u>http://www.lop.parl.gc.ca/content/lop/researchpublications/prb0722-e.htm</u>

45. The Standing Senate Committee on Human Rights. Children: the silenced citizens – effective implementation of Canada's international obligations with respect to the rights of children: final report. 2007. Available from: http://www.parl.gc.ca/content/sen/committee/391/huma/rep/rep10apr07-e.pdf

46. House of Commons Canada. Federal Poverty Reduction Plan:

Working in Partnership Towards Reducing Poverty in Canada. Report of the Standing Committee on Human Resources, Skills and Social Development and the Status of Persons with Disabilities. 2010. Available from:

http://www.parl.gc.ca/HousePublications/Publication.aspx?Language=e&Mode=1&Parl=40&Ses=3&DocId=4770921

47. Bill C-545: An act to eliminate poverty in Canada. 40th Parliament, 3rd Session. Ottawa: Private Member's Bill. Available from: <u>https://openparliament.ca/bills/40-3/C-545/</u>

48. Canada Without Poverty - Canada Sans Pauvreté. New federal all-party anti-poverty caucus. 2012. Available from: <u>http://www.cwp-csp.ca/2012/05/new-federal-all-party-anti-poverty-caucus/</u>

49. Minister of Families, Children and Social Development Mandate Letter. November 2015. Available from: <a href="http://pm.gc.ca/eng/minister-families-children-and-social-development-mandate-letter">http://pm.gc.ca/eng/minister-families-children-and-social-development-mandate-letter</a>

50. Canada Without Poverty - Canada Sans Pauvreté. Poverty progress profiles 2015. Available from: <a href="http://www.cwp-csp.ca/poverty/poverty-progress-profiles/">http://www.cwp-csp.ca/poverty/poverty-progress-profiles/</a>

51. Che J, Chen J. Food insecurity in Canadian households. Health Rep. 2001 Aug;12(4):11-22. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15069808</u>

52. Herbert Emery JC, Bartoo AC, Matheson J, Ferrer A, Kirkpatrick SI, Tarasuk V, et al. Evidence of the Association between Household Food Insecurity and Heating Cost Inflation in Canada, 1998–2001. Can Public Pol. 2012;38(2):181-215. Abstract available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/241754607\_Evidence\_of\_the\_Association\_between\_Household\_Food\_Inse curity\_and\_Heating\_Cost\_Inflation\_in\_Canada\_1998-2001

53.Tarasuk V. A critical examination of community-based responses to household food insecurity in Canada. HealthEduc Behav. 2001 Aug;28(4):487-99. Abstract available from: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11465158">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11465158</a>

54. Vozoris N, Davis B, Tarasuk V. The Affordability of a Nutritious Diet for Households on Welfare in Toronto. Can J Public Health. 2002 Jan-Feb;93(1):36-40. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11925698</u>

55. Tarasuk V. Household Food Insecurity in Canada. Topics in Clinical Nutrition October/December. 2005; 20: 299-312. Abstract available from:

http://journals.lww.com/topicsinclinicalnutrition/Pages/toc.aspx?year=2005&issue=10000#1953047649

56. Tarasuk V, Vogt J. Household food insecurity in Ontario. Can J Public Health. 2009 May-Jun;100(3):184-8. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19507719</u>

57. Loopstra R. Food insecurity indicator of poor progress on poverty. 2013. Available from: <u>http://www.cwp-csp.ca/2013/08/food-insecurity-indicator-of-poor-progress-on-poverty/</u>

58. Sriram UT, V. Changes in household food insecurity rates in Canadian metropolitan areas from 2007 to 2012. Can J Public Health. 2015 Apr 29;106(5):e322-7. doi: 10.17269/cjph.106.4893. Abstract available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26451995

59. Commission on Social Determinants of Health (CSDH). Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. 2008. Geneva, World Health Organization. Available from:

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/43943/1/9789241563703\_eng.pdf. \*\* See also: Marmot M, Friel S, Bell R, Houweling TAJ, Taylor S. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Lancet. 2008;372:1661-9. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(08)61690-6/abstract</u>

60. Kirkpatrick S, Tarasuk V. The relationship between low income and household food expenditure patterns in Canada. Public Health Nutr. 2003 Sep;6(6):589-97. Abstract available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14690040

61. Tarasuk V, McIntyre L, Li J. Low-income women's dietary intakes are sensitive to the depletion of household resources in one month. J Nutr. 2007 Aug;137(8):1980-7. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17634274

62. Leete L, Bania N. The effect of income shocks on food insufficiency. Review of Econ of the Household. 2010;8(4):505-26. Abstract available from: <u>http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11150-009-9075-4</u>

63. Gundersen C, Gruber J. The dynamic determinants of food insufficiency. In Andrews M, Prell M, eds. Second food security measurement and research conference, vol. II. 2001. Washington, DC. Available from: <a href="http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/907823/fanrr11-2g\_002.pdf">http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/907823/fanrr11-2g\_002.pdf</a>

64. Rose D. Economic Determinants and Dietary Consequences of Food Insecurity in the United States. J Nutr. 1999 Feb;129(2S Suppl):517S-520S. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10064321</u>

65. McIntyre L, Bartoo AC, Emery JCH. When working is not enough: food insecurity in the Canadian labour force. Public Health Nutr. 2014 Jan;17(1):49-57. doi: 10.1017/S1368980012004053. Epub 2012 Sep 10. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22958521</u>

66. Poverty and Employment Precarity in Southern Ontario (PEPSO) research group. It's more than poverty: Employment precarity and household well-being. February 2013. Available from:

http://www.unitedwaytyr.com/document.doc?id=91

67. Cappelli P. The New Deal at Work: Managing the Market-Driven Workforce. Boston: 1999. Available from: https://artificisonline.files.wordpress.com/2014/02/03-the-new-deal-at-work.pdf

68. Loopstra R, Tarasuk V. Severity of household food insecurity is sensitive to change in household income and employment status among low-income families. J Nutr. 2013 Aug;143(8):1316-23. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.175414. Epub 2013 Jun 12. Available from: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23761648">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23761648</a>

69. Olive D. Minimum wage needs to be re-engineered. The Toronto Star. Toronto. Available from: <a href="https://www.thestar.com/business/economy/2013/08/06/minimum">https://www.thestar.com/business/economy/2013/08/06/minimum</a> wage needs to be reengineered olive.html

70. Campolieti M, Gunderson M, B. L. The (Non) Impact of Minimum Wages on Poverty: Regression and Simulation Evidence for Canada. J Labor Res. 2012;33(3):287–302. Abstract available from:

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs12122-012-9139-8

71. Rideout K, Riches G, Ostry A, Buckingham D, MacRae R. Bringing home the right to food in Canada: challenges and possibilities for achieving food security. Public Health Nutr. 2007;10(6):566-73. Abstract available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17381908

72. Government of Canada. Growing the middle class. Federal Budget, March 22, 2016. Tabled in the House of Commons by the Honourable William Francis Morneau, PC, MP, Minister of Finance. Available from: <a href="http://www.budget.gc.ca/2016/docs/plan/budget2016-en.pdf">http://www.budget.gc.ca/2016/docs/plan/budget2016-en.pdf</a>

73. UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre. Measuring Child Poverty: New league tables of child poverty in the world's rich countries. Innocenti Report Card 10. Florence: 2012. Available from: <u>https://www.unicef-</u> irc.org/publications/pdf/rc10\_eng.pdf

74. Ionescu-Ittu R, Glymour MM, Kaufman JS. A difference-in-differences approach to estimate the effect of incomesupplementation on food insecurity. Prev Med. 2015 Jan;70:108-16. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.017. Epub 2014 Dec 1. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25475685</u>

75. Granofsky T, Corak M, Johal S, Zon N. Renewing Canada's social architecture. Mowat Centre. 2015. Available from: <u>https://mowatcentre.ca/renewing-canadas-social-architecture/</u>

76. Advisory Panel On Healthcare Innovation. Unleashing Innovation: Excellent Healthcare for Canada Report of the Advisory Panel on Healthcare Innovation. 2015. Available from:

http://www.healthycanadians.gc.ca/publications/health-system-systeme-sante/report-healthcare-innovation-rapportsoins/alt/report-healthcare-innovation-rapport-soins-eng.pdf

77. Allard JP, Keller H, Jeejeebhoy KN, Laporte M, Duerksen DR, Gramlich L, Payette H, Bernier P, Vesnaver E, Davidson B, Teterina A, Lou W. Malnutrition at Hospital Admission—Contributors and Effect on Length of Stay: A Prospective Cohort Study from the Canadian Malnutrition Task Force. J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2015. [Epub ahead of print]. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25623481</u>

78. Vozoris NT, Tarasuk VS. Household food insufficiency is associated with poorer health. J Nutr. 2003 Jan;133(1):120-6. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12514278</u>

79. Williams P, Watt CG, Amero M, Anderson BJ, Blum I, Green-LaPierre R, et al. Affordability of a nutritious diet for income assistance recipients in Nova Scotia (2002-2010). Can J Public Health. 2012 May-Jun;103(3):183-8. Abstract available from: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22905636">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22905636</a>

80. Loopstra R, Dachner N, Tarasuk, V. An Exploration of the Unprecedented Decline in the Prevalence of Household Food Insecurity in Newfoundland and Labrador, 2007–2012. Can Public Pol. 2015;191-206. Abstract available from: http://www.utpjournals.press/doi/abs/10.3138/cpp.2014-080?journalCode=cpp

81. Tarasuk V, Mitchell A, Dachner N. Household food insecurity in Canada 2011. Research to identify policy options to reduce food insecurity (PROOF). 2013. Available from: <u>http://proof.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/foodinsecurity2011\_final.pdf</u>

82. Segal H. Scrapping Welfare: The case for guaranteeing all Canadians an income above the poverty line. Literary Review of Canada. 2012. Available from: <u>http://reviewcanada.ca/magazine/2012/12/scrapping-welfare/</u>

83. Mental Health Commission of Canada. Changing directions, changing lives: The Mental Health Strategy for Canada. Calgary: 2012. Available from: <u>http://strategy.mentalhealthcommission.ca/pdf/strategy-images-en.pdf</u>

84. Canada Revenue Agency. Refundable tax credit for working income tax benefit: Application and Eligibility. Available from: <u>http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/bnfts/wtb/fq\_qlfyng-eng.html</u>

85. Pasma C, Mulvale J. Income security for all Canadians: Understanding guaranteed income. Basic Income Earth Network Canada. 2009. Available from: <u>http://www.cpj.ca/files/docs/Income\_Security\_for\_All\_Canadians.pdf</u>

86. Herbert Emery JC, Fleisch VC, McIntyre L. How a guaranteed annual income could put food banks out of business. The School of Public Policy Research Papers. 2013;6(37). Available from:

http://policyschool.ucalgary.ca/sites/default/files/research/emery-foodbankfinal.pdf

87. Forget EL. The town with no poverty: The health effects of a Canadian guaranteed annual income field experiment. Canadian Public Policy. 2011;37:283-305. Available from:

http://www.utpjournals.press/doi/pdf/10.3138/cpp.37.3.283

88. Lum Z. A Canadian city once eliminated poverty and nearly everyone forgot about it. Huffington Post. 2014. Available from: <u>http://www.huffingtonpost.ca/2014/12/23/mincome-in-dauphin-manitoba\_n\_6335682.html</u>

89. Hum D, Simpson W. Whatever happened to Canada's guaranteed income project? Can Public Adm. 1993;36(3):442-50. Abstract available from: <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1754-</u>

#### 7121.1993.tb01963.x/abstract

90. Hum D, Simpson W. A guaranteed annual income: From Mincome to the millennium. Policy Options. 2001:78-82. Available from: <u>http://archive.irpp.org/po/archive/jan01/hum.pdf</u>

91. Hum D, Simpson W. Economic Response to a Guaranteed Annual Income: Experience from Canada and the United States. J Labor Econ. 1993;11(1):S263-96. Abstract available from:

http://www.jstor.org/stable/2535174?seq=1#page\_scan\_tab\_contents

92. The Conference Board of Canada. How Canada performs: A report card on Canada. 2013. Available from: <a href="http://www.conferenceboard.ca/Libraries/PUBLIC\_PDFS/13-260\_HCP2013\_ExecSumm.sflb">http://www.conferenceboard.ca/Libraries/PUBLIC\_PDFS/13-260\_HCP2013\_ExecSumm.sflb</a>

93. OECD. Pensions at a glance 2013: OECD and G20 indicators. 2013. Available from:

http://www.oecd.org/pensions/public-pensions/OECDPensionsAtAGlance2013.pdf

94. Emery JC, Fleisch VC, McIntyre L. Legislated changes to federal pension income in Canada will adversely affect low income seniors' health. Prev Med. 2013 Dec;57(6):963-6. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2013.09.004. Epub 2013 Sep 17. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24055151</u>

95. Government of Canada. Survivor's pension. Available from:

http://www.esdc.gc.ca/en/cpp/survivor\_pension.page

96. Government of Canada. Contributions to the Canada Pension Plan. Available from:

http://www.esdc.gc.ca/en/cpp/contributions.page

97. Hulchanski JD, Campsie P, Chau SBY, Hwang SH, Paradis E. Finding Home: Policy Options for Addressing Homelessness in Canada. Toronto: 2009. Available from:

http://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/FindingHome\_Full.pdf

98. Miewald C, Ostry A. A warm meal and a bed: Intersections of housing and food security in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside. Hous Stud. 2014;29(6):709-29. Available from:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02673037.2014.920769

99. Dachner N, Gaetz S, Poland B, Tarasuk V. An ethnographic study of meal programs for homeless and underhoused individuals in Toronto. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2009 Aug;20(3):846-53. doi: 10.1353/hpu.0.0167. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19648711</u> 100. Gaetz S, Gulliver-Garcia T, Richter T. The State of Homelessness in Canada 2014. 2014. Toronto, ON: The Homeless Hub Press. Available from: <u>http://homelesshub.ca/resource/state-homelessness-canada-2014</u>

101. Londerville J, Steele M. Housing policy targeting homelessness. Canadian Alliance to End Homelessness. September 20, 2014. Available from: <u>http://homelesshub.ca/sites/default/files/SOHC2014-Backgrounder.pdf</u>

102. Tarasuk V, Dachner N. The Proliferation of Charitable Meal Programs in Toronto. Canadian Public Policy.

2009;35(4):433-50. Abstract available from: <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/27759556?seq=1#page\_scan\_tab\_contents</u>

103. Goering P, Veldhuizen S, Watson A, Adair C, Kopp B, Latimer E, et al. National At Home/Chez Soi Final Report. Mental Health Commission of Canada, Calgary: 2014. Available from:

http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/mhcc\_at\_home\_report\_national\_cros\_s-site\_eng\_2.pdf

104. Pomeroy S. Built to last: Strengthening the foundations of housing in Canada. 2015. Ottawa, ON: Federation of Canadian Municipalities. Available from:

https://www.fcm.ca/Documents/reports/FCM/Built to Last Strengthening the foundations of housing in Canada E N.pdf

105. National Aboriginal Housing Association. A time for action: A national plan to address Aboriginal housing. 2009. Available from: <u>http://www.ontarioaboriginalhousing.ca/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2014/09/NAHA\_Action\_Plan\_July\_2009\_FINAL.pdf

106. McIntyre L, Wu X, Fleisch V, Herbert Emery JC. Homeowner versus non-homeowner differences in household food insecurity in Canada. J Hous Built Environ. 2016;31(2):349-366. Abstract available from:

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10901-015-9461-6

107. Hulchanski JD. Canada's dual housing policy: Assisting owners, neglecting renters. Center for Urban and Community Studies. 2007. Available from:

http://www.urbancentre.utoronto.ca/pdfs/researchbulletins/CUCSRB38Hulchanski.pdf

108. Kirkpatrick SI, Tarasuk V. Housing circumstances are associated with household food access among low-income urban families. J Urban Health. 2011 Apr;88(2):284-96. doi: 10.1007/s11524-010-9535-4. Abstract available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21286826

109. Stone M. What is housing affordability? The case of the residual income approach. Hous Policy Debate. 2006;17:151-84. Citation available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/282283023 What is housing affordability The case for the residual inc ome approach From housing policy debate 2006

110. Hulchanski JD. The concept of housing affordability: Six contemporary uses of the housing expenditure-toincome ratio. Hous Stud. 1995;10:471-91.Abstract available from: <u>http://homelesshub.ca/resource/concept-housing-</u> <u>affordability-six-contemporary-uses-housing-expenditure-income-ratio</u>

111. Jewkes MD, Delgadillo LM. Weaknesses of housing affordability indices used by practitioners. Financial Counseling & Planning. 2010;21(1):43-52. Available from:

https://afcpe.org/assets/pdf/volume\_21\_issue\_1/jewkes\_delgadillo.pdf

112. Ministerial Mandate letter to the Minister of Families, Children and Social Development. 2015. Available from: <a href="http://pm.gc.ca/eng/minister-families-children-and-social-development-mandate-letter">http://pm.gc.ca/eng/minister-families-children-and-social-development-mandate-letter</a>

113. The Food Institute of the University of Guelph. Food Price Report 2016. University of Guelph Economic Brief. 2015. Available from:

https://www.uoguelph.ca/foodinstitute/system/files/Food%20Price%20Report%202016%20English.pdf

114. Davison J. Food eats up less of our spending, but costs us more. CBC News Canada. October 7, 2011. Available from: <u>http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/food-eats-up-less-of-our-spending-but-costs-us-more-1.1054574</u>

115. Council of Canadian Academies. Aboriginal food security in Northern Canada: an assessment of the state of knowledge. Expert Panel on the State of Knowledge of Food Security in Northern Canada. Ottawa: 2014. Available from: <a href="http://www.scienceadvice.ca/uploads/eng/assessments%20and%20publications%20and%20news%20releases/food%20security/foodsecurity\_fullreporten.pdf">http://www.scienceadvice.ca/uploads/eng/assessments%20and%20publications%20and%20news%20releases/food%20security\_foodsecurity\_fullreporten.pdf</a>

116. Canada Revenue Agency. Line 255 – Northern residents deductions. Available from: <u>http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/tx/ndvdls/tpcs/ncm-tx/rtrn/cmpltng/ddctns/lns248-260/255/menu-eng.html</u>

117. National Joint Council. Isolated Posts and Government Housing Directive. 2007. Available from: <u>http://www.njc-</u> <u>cnm.gc.ca/directive/ipgh-pile/index-eng.php</u>

118. Collin C, Jensen H. A Statistical Profile of Poverty in Canada. Social Affairs Division, Library of Parliament, Ottawa: 2009. Available from: <u>http://www.lop.parl.gc.ca/content/lop/researchpublications/prb0917-e.htm</u>

119. Thompson S, Gulrukh A, Ballard M, Beardy B, Islam D, Lozeznik V, Wong K. Is community economic development putting healthy food on the table? Food sovereignty in northern Manitoba's Aboriginal communities. Journal of Aboriginal Economic Development. 2011; 7(2), 14-39. *As cited in:* Council of Canadian Academies. *Aboriginal food security in Northern Canada*: an assessment of the state of knowledge. Expert Panel on the State of Knowledge of Food Security in Northern Canada. Ottawa: 2014. Available from:

http://www.scienceadvice.ca/uploads/eng/assessments%20and%20publications%20and%20news%20releases/food %20security/foodsecurity\_fullreporten.pdf

120. Power E. Food Security for First Nations and Inuit Background Paper. Prepared for the First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada. 2007. Available from: <u>http://nada.ca/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2016/pdfs/Food%20Security%20&%20Nutrition/Food%20Security%20First%20Nations%20and%20I nuit%20Background%20Paper%20by%20Elaine%20Power.pdf

121. Nunavut Food Security Coalition. Nunavut food security strategy and action plan 2014-16. Iqaluit, 2014. Available from: <a href="http://makiliqta.ca/sites/default/files/nunavutfoodsecuritystrategy\_english.pdf">http://makiliqta.ca/sites/default/files/nunavutfoodsecuritystrategy\_english.pdf</a>

122. Butler Walker J, Friendship K, Kassi N. Working together to achieve healthier lifestyles in Yukon and Northwest Territories. Arctic Institute of Community-Based Research, Whitehorse, YT. Information from:

http://www.eco.gov.yk.ca/pdf/Friendship\_ICCH2015AHLDraftMay2015.pdf and http://www.aicbr.ca/

123. Yukon Government. Local Food Strategy for Yukon: Encouraging the Production and Consumption of Yukon-Grown Food 2016-2021. May 2016. Agriculture Branch, Energy, Mines and Resources – Government of Yukon. Available from: http://www.emr.gov.yk.ca/agriculture/pdf/local-food-strategy-for-yukon.pdf]

124. Government of Canada. Nutrition North Canada. Nutrition North Canada. 2013:1-2. Available from: <a href="http://www.nutritionnorthcanada.gc.ca/eng/1415385762263/1415385790537">http://www.nutritionnorthcanada.gc.ca/eng/1415385762263/1415385790537</a>

125. Office of the Auditor General of Canada. 2014 Fall Report of the Auditor General of Canada. Chapter 6—Nutrition North Canada—Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada. 2014. Available from: <u>http://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/parl\_oag\_201411\_06\_e\_39964.html</u>

126. Standing Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs. Briefing with the Office of the Auditor General of Canada. April 19, 2016. Available from:

http://www.parl.gc.ca/Committees/en/INAN/StudyActivity?studyActivityId=8857404

127. Galloway T. Is the Nutrition North Canada retail subsidy program meeting the goal of making nutritious and perishable food more accessible and affordable in the North? Can J Public Health. 2014;105(5):e395-e7. Available from: <a href="http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/4624">http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/4624</a>

128. Burnett K, Skinner K, LeBlanc J. Field Report: From Food Mail to Nutrition North Canada: Reconsidering federal food subsidy programs for northern Ontario. Canadian Food Studies. 2015;2:141-56. Available from:

http://www.kellyskinner.ca/uploads/6/8/8/2/6882498/burnett\_skinner\_leblanc\_foodmailnutritionnorthcanadanorthe rnontario\_canadianfoodstudies\_2015.pdf\_\*\*See also: Report 4: From Food Mail to Nutrition North Canada - Report of the Standing Committee on

Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development. Available from:

http://www.parl.gc.ca/Committees/en/AANO/StudyActivity?studyActivityId=3324689

129. Dietitians of Canada. Aboriginal/Indigenous Peoples - Food, Nutrition and Health Background In: PEN: Practicebased Evidence in Nutrition(R). 2014. Available from:

https://www.pennutrition.com/KnowledgePathway.aspx?kpid=14280&trcatid=38&trid=14632

130. Dietitians of Canada. Role Paper of the Dietitians of Canada Aboriginal Nutrition Network: Registered Dietitians in Aboriginal Communities - Feeding Mind, Body and Spirit. October 2012. Available from:

http://www.dietitians.ca/Downloads/Public/ANN-Report-Final-2012

131. Chan L, Receveur O, Sharp D, Schwartz H, Ing A, Tikhonov C. First Nations Food, Nutrition and Environment Study (FHFNES): Results from British Columbia (2008/2009). 2011. University of Northern BC, Prince George, BC. Available from: http://www.fnfnes.ca/docs/BC%20Reports/FNFNES\_Report\_BC\_FINAL\_PRINT\_v2-lo.pdf

132. Chan L, Receveur O, Sharp D, Schwartz H, Ing A, Fediuk, K. et al. First Nations Food, Nutrition and Environment Study (FHFNES): Results from Manitoba (2010). 2012. University of Northern BC, Prince George, BC. Available from: <a href="http://www.fnfnes.ca/docs/MB%20Reports/FNFNES%20Report-MB\_WEB\_rev.pdf">http://www.fnfnes.ca/docs/MB%20Reports/FNFNES%20Report-MB\_WEB\_rev.pdf</a>

133. Chan L, Receveur O, Batal M, David W, Schwartz H, Ing A. et al. First Nations Food, Nutrition and Environment Study (FHFNES): Results from Ontario (2011/2012). 2014. University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON. Available from: <a href="http://www.fnfnes.ca/docs/FNFNES\_Ontario\_Regional\_Report\_2014\_final.pdf">http://www.fnfnes.ca/docs/FNFNES\_Ontario\_Regional\_Report\_2014\_final.pdf</a>

133a. Chan L, Receveur O, Batal M, David W, Schwartz H, Ing A. et al. First Nations Food, Nutrition and Environment Study (FHFNES): Results from Alberta (2013). 2016. University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON. Available from:

http://www.fnfnes.ca/docs/Alberta\_Reports/FNFNES\_Alberta\_Regional\_Report\_.pdf

134. Gionet L, Roshanafshar S. Select health indicators of First Nations people living off reserve, Métis and Inuit. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-624-X. January 29, 2013. Available from: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-624-x/2013001/article/11763-eng.htm</u>

135. Wallace S. Inuit health: Selected findings from the 2012 Aboriginal Peoples Survey. August 2014. Statistics Canada. Available from: <u>http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection\_2014/statcan/89-653-x/89-653-x2014003-eng.pdf</u>

136. Food Security Reference Group. The Conceptual Model for Promoting Food Security in First Nations and Inuit Communities. Ottawa: 2009. Available from: <u>http://nada.ca/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2016/pdfs/Food%20Security%20&%20Nutrition/Conceptual%20model.pdf

137. Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Calls to Action. Winnipeg: 2015. Available from: <a href="http://www.trc.ca/websites/trcinstitution/File/2015/Findings/Calls">http://www.trc.ca/websites/trcinstitution/File/2015/Findings/Calls</a> to Action English2.pdf

138. United Nations. Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. 2008;2012. New York, NY. Department of Economic and Social Affairs (DESA) and Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC). Available from:

http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/unpfii/documents/DRIPS\_en.pdf

139. Standing Senate Committee on Aboriginal Peoples. Studies and Bills. Available from:

http://www.parl.gc.ca/SenCommitteeBusiness/CommitteeStudies.aspx?parl=42&ses=1&Language=E&comm\_id=1001

140. Pedersen S. Alberta First Nations Food Security Strategy. 2015. Available from: <u>http://alberta-first-nations-food-security-strategy-2.pdf</u>

141. Huet C, Rosol R, Egeland GM. The Prevalence of Food Insecurity Is High and the Diet Quality Poor in Inuit Communities. J Nutr. 2012 Mar;142(3):541-7. doi: 10.3945/jn.111.149278. Epub 2012 Feb 8. Abstract available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22323760?dopt=Abstract

142. Auditor General of Canada. June 2011 Status Report, Chapter 4 – Programs for First Nations on Reserves. 2011. Available from: <u>http://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/parl\_oag\_201106\_04\_e\_35372.html</u>

143. Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada (AANDC). Income Assistance Program – Background. Retrieved May 30, 2016 from <u>www.aadnc-aandc.gc.ca/eng/1334589796211/1334589859785</u>

144. Kuhnlein HV, Receveur O. Local cultural animal food contributes high levels of nutrients for Arctic Canadian Indigenous adults and children. J Nutr. 2007 Apr;137(4):1110-4. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17374689

145. Chan H, Fediuk K, Hamilton S, Rostas L, Caughey A, Kuhnlein H, et al. Food security in Nunavut, Canada: Barriers and recommendations. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2006 Dec;65(5):416-31. Abstract available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17319086

146. Nord M, Brent CP. Food insecurity in higher income households. 2002. Washington, D.C. Available from: <a href="http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/887406/efan02016\_002.pdf">http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/887406/efan02016\_002.pdf</a>

147. Shukla SB, B. Dyck, J. Cochrane, C. Alfaro, J. Barkman, J. et al. The odyssey of oral history interviewing in community-based action research: exploring Indigenous knowledges and food sovereignty in Fisher River, Manitoba, Canada. SAGE Research Methods Cases. London: SAGE Publications, Ltd; 2013.

148. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Food Security in the United States. Available from: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-security-in-the-united-states.aspx</u>

149. Kirkpatrick S, Tarasuk V. Food Insecurity in Canada: Considerations for Monitoring. Can J Public Health.

2008;99(4):324-7. Available from: <a href="http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/1661/1845">http://journal.cpha.ca/index.php/cjph/article/view/1661/1845</a>

150. Health Canada. Monitoring household food insecurity over time. 2012. Available from: <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/surveill/nutrition/commun/insecurit/time-temps-eng.php</u>

### Acknowledgements

| Primary Author:              | Elaine Power, PhD (ON)                                   |  |
|------------------------------|--|--|
| <b>Contributing Authors:</b> | Delone Abercrombie, MPH, RD (AB)                         |  |
|                              | Andree-Anne Fafard St-Germain, BSc, PhD student, RD (ON) |  |
|                              | Pat Vanderkooy, MSc, RD (ON)                             |  |

Advisory Committee: comprised of DC members who graciously volunteered their time

| Karen Davison, PhD, RD (BC)           | Roberta Larsen, MEd, RD (PE)  |
|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Chiara di Angelo, MPH, RD (ON)        | Elisa Levi, MPH, RD (ON)      |
| Karen Fediuk, MSc, RD (BC)            | Ashley Motran, MPH, RD (ON)   |
| Sandra Fitzpatrick, MHSc, RD (ON)     | Eric Ng, MPH, RD (ON)         |
| Suzanne Galesloot, MSA, RD (AB)       | Tanya L'Heureux, BSc, RD (AB) |
| Gurjinder Gill, MHSc, RD (ON)         | Tracy Sanden, MPH, RD (SK)    |
| Gerry Kasten, MSc, RD, FDC (BC)       | Christina Seely, RD (ON)      |
| Stephanie Kendel, BSc, RD (SK) not DC | Marie Traynor, MSc, RD (ON)   |
| Sharon Kirkpatrick, PhD, RD (ON)      | Tracy Woloshyn, MHSc, RD (ON) |
| Melanie Kurrein, MA, RD (BC)          |                               |

#### DC Networks providing input and support:

**Aboriginal Nutrition Network** – co-Chairs Elisa Levi, MPH, RD (ON) and Emily Murray, BASc, RD (NU), and Kelly Gordon, BSc, RD (ON)

Nutrition and Food Security Network – Chair Jan Hillis, BSc, retired (BC)

## Special thanks to the following people for their additional input and review in the sections of this paper which speak to food insecurity amongst Indigenous Peoples:

Brenda McIntyre, MHSc (NS), Malek Batal, PhD (QC), Mary Trifonopoulos, MSc, RD (ON), Tania Morrison, MHS, RD (BC), Anne Garrett, MEd, RD (NU), Sara Statham (NU), Allison MacRury, MPH, RD (NU), Jen Cody, MHSc, RD (BC), Suzanne Johnson, BSc, RD (BC), Elsie de Roose (NT and AB), Hannah Neufeld, PhD (ON)

#### For further information:

Pat Vanderkooy, MSc, RD Manager, Public Affairs Dietitians of Canada Tel: 226-203-7725 pat.vanderkooy@dietitians.ca www.dietitians.ca